STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM THE COURT OF COMMON PLEAS FOR CHARLESTON COUNTY

George M. McFaddin, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001048

Ten Mile Neighborhood Association of Awendaw, S.C.,

Appellant,

v.

Charleston County Planning Commission, McNeil Henry, Dream Finders Homes, LLC, and
Crescent Homes CHS, LLC,

Respondents.

AND

Ten Mile Neighborhood Association of Awendaw, S.C.,

Appellant,

v.

Charleston County Planning Commission, Betty Ann Goodwater, Isaac Goodwater, Joseph
Goodwater, and Crescent Homes CHS, LLC,

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Benjamin D. Cunningham (SC Bar No. 76396)
Monica K. Whalen (SC Bar No. 106638)

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE PLANNING COMMISSION'S SUBDIVISION DECISIONS WHEN THE PLANNING COMMISSION FAILED TO DETERMINE WHETHER THE PROPOSALS COMPLIED WITH THE CULTURAL RESOURCES ELEMENT OF THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN.

- II. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY AFFIRMING THE PLANNING COMMISSION'S SUBDIVISION DECISIONS WHEN THERE IS NO EVIDENCE THAT THE SUBDIVISIONS WOULD BE CONSISTENT WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN CULTURAL RESOURCES ELEMENT'S GOAL AND STRATEGIES.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter is an appeal of the decision of the Charleston County Court of Common Pleas that affirmed the Charleston County Planning Commission's approval of two applications for subdivisions. On June 26, 2024, the Charleston County Historic Preservation Commission initially reviewed two separate subdivision proposals within the Ten Mile Historic District in the East Cooper area of unincorporated Charleston County. One proposal sought to divide two lots located on Gadsdenville Road into four lots, and the second proposal was to divide one lot located on Theodore Road into three lots. The Historic Preservation Commission determined that both proposals were contrary to the element goal statement and certain strategies of the Cultural Resources Element of the Charleston County Comprehensive Plan. The Planning Commission reviewed the proposals on July 8, 2024 and approved both subdivision requests.

On August, 12, 2024, Appellant appealed both matters to the Court of Common Pleas for Charleston County. While on appeal, the matters were consolidated on January 29, 2025. The appeals were heard by Judge McFaddin on February 27, 2025. The Court issued a ruling on April 3, 2025 and directed the Respondents to prepare an order affirming the decisions of the Planning

Commission. The Court entered the final order on April 25, 2025. Appellant timely filed its notice of appeal on May 27, 2025.

THE PARTIES TO THE APPEAL

Appellant is the Ten Mile Neighborhood Association of Awendaw, S.C. (“Ten Mile Neighborhood Association” or “Appellant”). Appellant’s organization is composed of residents of the 10 Mile Community, and its purpose is to “expand and preserve the traditions of the Gullah Geechee people while uplifting the Ten Mile Community culturally, economically, and socially.” (R. p. 320; Reply Ex. A, Affidavit of P. Ascue at p. 2, ¶ 5).

The primary Respondents are the Charleston County Planning Commission (“Planning Commission” or “Respondent”) which approved the subdivision of the real property at issue and the applicant for the subdivisions, Crescent Homes CHS, LLC (“Crescent Homes” or “Respondent”). Crescent Homes also possesses an interest in the real properties at issue. Additional Respondents include the current title holders of the real property at issue. Betty Ann Goodwater, Isaac Goodwater and Joseph Goodwater all possess an interest in the real property located at 1083 Gadsdenville Road. Mr. McNeil Henry possesses an interest in the real property located at 1058 Theodore Road.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The 10 Mile Community is located in the East Cooper area of unincorporated Charleston County, South Carolina and was founded after the Civil War during Reconstruction. (R. p. 320; Reply Ex. A, Aff. P. Ascue at p. 2, ¶ 6). Appellant’s members engaged in extensive work within the community and, as a result, Ten Mile was designated a Historic District by the Charleston County Council on June 21, 2022. (*Id.*). The historic preservation ordinance defines “Historic District” as “[a] geographically definable area, urban or rural, which contains sites, buildings, structures, objects, *or* works of art united historically or aesthetically by plan or physical

development; demonstrates cultural cohesiveness; or a combination thereof as designated pursuant to this Ordinance.” Charleston Cnty. Code § 21-11. “A Historic District derives its importance from being a unified entity, even though it is often composed of a wide variety of resources. The identity of a district results from the interrelationship of its resources, which can convey a visual sense of the overall historic environment or be an arrangement of historically or functionally related properties.” Charleston Cnty. Code § 21-3(A). And yet, “[a] Historic District can contain buildings, structures, sites, objects, or open spaces that do not contribute to the significance of the Historic District.” (*Id.*).

The purpose of the historic preservation ordinance, and the reason for an area to seek Historic District designation, is to “safeguard the integrity of Historic Properties and Historic Districts.” Charleston Cnty. Code § 21-3 (B). In order to satisfy the approval criteria for a Historic District, a particular area may demonstrate that it “[h]as significant inherent character, interest, history, or value as part of the rural county or heritage of the county, state or nation; [or] [e]xemplifies the cultural, political, economic, social, ethnic, or historic heritage of the county, state or nation [...]” Charleston Cnty. Code § 21-3 (I)(1), (4). The historic preservation ordinance also requires, among other information, “supporting documentation to show that 51% or more of the registered voters of the properties in the proposed Historic District are in favor of the application.” Charleston Cnty. Code § 21-3 (E)(2)(b).

After Ten Mile was designated a Historic District, Charleston County Council amended the historic preservation ordinance on May 7, 2024. Charleston Cnty. Code § 21 passim. The amendments resulted in a change for subdivision reviews. Under the prior version of the ordinance, “subdivision plats or site plan review proposals” for development within historic districts had to “demonstrate consistency with the prevailing patterns of existing lots, densities,

spacing of homes, lot sizes and shapes, and other characteristics of the historic district that the historic preservation commission deems applicable.” Charleston Cnty. Code § 21-4(f)(1)(d) (2023 version).

The current version, which controlled the review of the subdivision proposals at issue here, authorizes the Historic Preservation Commission “to evaluate certain Preliminary and Minor Subdivision Plat applications and provide a report on the consistency of the applications with the Cultural Resources Element of the Charleston County Comprehensive Plan....” Charleston Cnty. Code § 21-2 (B). The purpose of this review is, naturally, to “encourage the preservation of the historic character of Historic Properties and Historic Districts[.]” Charleston Cnty. Code § 21-6 (A). The report is “made in an advisory capacity, only, and shall have no binding effect on the Planning Commission.” Charleston Cnty. Code § 21-6 (E).

Upon current knowledge, information and belief, the review of the subdivisions at issue here was the first time the Planning Commission was presented with a recommendation from the Historic Preservation Commission regarding compliance or noncompliance with the Cultural Resources Element of the Comprehensive Plan.

I. Historic Preservation Commission Review.

The Historic Preservation Commission considered the subdivision proposed for 1083 Gadsdenville Road (“Gadsdenville Road Subdivision”) on June 26, 2024. (R. p. 351, lines 2-4; Gadsdenville Record on Appeal (“G.R.A.”) Transcript at p. 4, lines 2-4). As part of the review process, the Commission received seven letters from the community opposing the proposal and a petition signed by over sixty people opposing the proposal. (R. pp. 506-526, 547; G.R.A. at 32-52, 73). The Ten Mile community members objected to the proposal because the lot dimensions and setbacks were not consistent with a majority of those in the Ten Mile Historic District. Further, the R-4 zoning, itself, “was not consistent and is not consistent with the district even when it was

zoned R-4[,]” and “[t]he original lot sizes were more consistent with the district.” (R. p. 507; G.R.A. at 33). Ms. Frances White noted in her objection that “[n]one of the [approximately] 37 developed lots on Gadsdenville R[oa]d are smaller than 0.40 acres. One of the approximately 20 undeveloped lots is smaller than 0.40. These new parcels would all be less than that.” (R. p. 507; G.R.A. at 33). Several members of the community repeated these points in their comments. (R. p. 508-516; G.R.A. at 34-42). No one spoke in support of the subdivision. (R. p. 504; G.R.A. at 30).

Ultimately, “all eight members of the Historic Preservation Commission stated that proposed subdivision is not consistent with the Cultural Resource [sic] Element of the Comprehensive Plan, citing inconsistencies with [the] Element Goal statement and strategies CR1, CR2, CR3, CR5, CR7, and CR9....” (R. p. 352, lines 18-25; G.R.A. Transcript at p. 5, lines 18-25).

The goal of the Cultural Resources Element of the Comprehensive Plan reads as follows:

Cultural, historic and archaeological resources, unique settlement patterns of traditional Lowcountry communities (such as historically African-American communities and family settlements), and traditional activities (such as Sweetgrass Basket Making) should be preserved and protected from potential negative impacts of growth and development.

(R. p. 543; G.R.A. at 69).

The particular strategies that the Historic Preservation Commission found the proposal violated included the following: CR1. (“Continue to promote historic preservation and enhance the County’s historic preservation ordinance”); CR3. (“Continue to work with communities along the Gullah Geechee Corridor to preserve the unique settlement patterns and community character, including historic property/district designations, community plans and overlay zoning districts”); CR7. (“Continue to protect rural historic landscapes by ensuring development is in character with inherent rural attributes”); and CR9. (“Continue to coordinate with residents, adjacent

jurisdictions, outside agencies, non-profit organizations, and others with expertise in historic preservation to implement planning, zoning and other techniques to protect historic communities and neighborhoods and other areas of cultural significance”).¹ (R. pp. 543-544; G.R.A. at 69–70).

The subdivision proposed for 1058 Theodore Road (“Theodore Road Subdivision”) was likewise considered by the Historic Preservation Commission on June 26, 2024. (R. p. 474; Theodore Record on Appeal (“T.R.A.”) at 74). As in the case of the Gadsdenville Road Subdivision, the Commission received seven public comments in opposition and a petition in opposition with sixty-seven signatures. (*Id.*). Two people spoke before the Commission and both spoke in opposition while no members of the public spoke or wrote in support of the proposal. (*Id.*).

The 10 Mile community objections repeated those submitted in opposition to the other subdivision. Community members stated that the lot dimensions and setbacks were not consistent with a majority of those in the Ten Mile Historic District including those on Theodore Road. They emphasized that the R-4 zoning “was not consistent and is not consistent with the district[,]” and that “[o]riginal residents’ developed lots are larger [than what is proposed].” (R. p. 432; T.R.A. at 32). All eight members of the Historic Preservation Commission concluded that the Theodore Road Subdivision failed to comply with the goal of the Cultural Resources Element of the Comprehensive Plan and the following strategies: CR1., CR3., CR7., and CR9. (R. p. 337, lines 7-16; T.R.A. Transcript at p. 3, lines 7-16; R. pp. 470-471; T.R.A. at 70-71).

¹ The Historic Preservation Commission also found that the proposal violates CR2. and CR5. (R. pp. 543-544; G.R.A. at 69–70).

The Historic Preservation Commission's findings on the Gadsdenville Road Subdivision and the Theodore Road Subdivision were both presented by staff to the Planning Commission. (R. pp. 542-544; G.R.A. at 68-70; R. pp. 469-471; T.R.A. at 69-71).

II. Planning Commission Review of the Gadsdenville Road Subdivision Proposal.

The Planning Commission was briefed on the Gadsdenville Road Subdivision proposal by Ms. Tamara Avery, a planning staff person who presented it with the aid of a slide show. (R. p. 350, lines 22-25; G.R.A. Transcript at p. 3, lines 22-25). The presentation depicted the property's location on the following: a current zoning map (R. p. 528; G.R.A. at 54), a current future land use map (R. p. 529; G.R.A. at 55), a current aerial map (R. p. 530; G.R.A. at 56), and a current FEMA Flood Zone map (R. p. 531; G.R.A. at 57). There were slides of two current site photos, a current photo of Gadsdenville Road, and a current photo of adjacent property (R. pp. 532-533; G.R.A. at 58-59). There was also a copy of the current plat. (R. p. 534; G.R.A. at 60).

A slide further outlined the requisite density/intensity requirements under R-4 zoning (R. p. 535; G.R.A. at 61); another depicted an excerpt of S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-340 (R. p. 536; G.R.A. at 62); other slides showed an excerpt of the Charleston County Historic Preservation Ordinance that outlined the ordinances' purpose (R. p. 537; G.R.A. at 63) and provided a copy of the Cultural Resources Element Goal and Strategies from the Charleston County Comprehensive Plan. (R. pp. 538-541; G.R.A. at 64-67).

Ms. Avery next showed slides recounting the Historic Preservation Commission's conclusion that the Gadsdenville Road proposal was inconsistent with the Element goal and specific strategies CR1., CR2., CR3., CR5., CR7., and CR9. (R. pp. 542-544; G.R.A. at 68-70). The staff recommended approving the subdivision, however, based on its conclusion that the proposal complies with the Charleston County Zoning and Land Development Regulations ("ZLDR") requirements. (R. p. 545; G.R.A. at 71). County Planner Joel Evans explained that

compliance with R-4 zoning was “why Staff made their recommendation, because it ... meets the ordinance that was in effect at the time the application was made.” (R. p. 359, lines 1-8; G.R.A. Transcript at p. 12, lines 1-8).²

The only other information staff presented included information on how the matter was noticed (R. p. 546; G.R.A. at 72) and a summary of public input (R. p. 547; G.R.A. at 73). The public input section noted that the Historic Preservation Commission had received public input opposing the subdivision, as discussed above. (R. p. 547; G.R.A. at 73). The Planning Commission itself received one letter in opposition that provided the materials sent to the Historic Preservation Commission, and an additional signature on the prior petition in opposition. (*Id.*).

Two people spoke in opposition to the proposal during the Planning Commission meeting. (R. p. 355, line 25-p.358, line 6; G.R.A. Transcript at p. 8, line 25-p. 11, line 6). Ms. Pearl Ascue, a longtime Ten Mile resident and member of Appellant, stated that “we have not, in the Ten Mile Historical District, have not had this type of pattern of development in the past 80 years. Even when it was R-4, it did not meet the consistent pattern of the historical Ten Mile Community.” (R. p. 356, lines 19-24; G.R.A. Transcript at p. 9, lines 19-24). Ms. Ascue also noted the Historic Preservation Commission’s findings and concluded that “when it comes to supporting Settlement Communities and how the patterns are laid out, it’s totally different from your average, what we would call subdivision and lot sizes.” (R. p. 357, lines 1-8; G.R.A. Transcript p. 10, lines 1-8). Ms. Ascue has lived in the Ten Mile community for more than 70 years and her family has lived in the Ten Mile community “since the 1890s when Ten Mile was first established.” (R. pp. 320-

² At the time it was considering amendments to the historic preservation ordinance, Charleston County Council also rezoned the Ten Mile Historic District from R-4 to S-3 which allows for less dense development as that was one of the primary concerns of the community. (*See* R. p. 360, lines 12-21; G.R.A. Transcript p. 13, lines 12-21).

321; Reply Ex. A, Aff. P. Ascue at p. 2, ¶ 2, p. 3, ¶ 10). Ms. Ascue resides nearby the proposed subdivision on Gadsdenville Road. (R. p. 320; *Id.* at p. 2, ¶ 7). Ms. Myra Richardson spoke in opposition and noted the inconsistency of the proposed lot sizes with those in existence in the community. (R. p. 357, line 23-p. 358, line 6; G.R.A. Transcript at p. 10, line 23- p. 11, line 6). Only the applicant spoke in favor of the proposal. (R. p. 355, lines 9-21; G.R.A. Transcript at p. 8, lines 9-21).

The discussion among the Planning Commission was brief. It consisted of a conversation about why the proposal was reviewed under R-4 zoning instead of S-3 (R. p. 358, line 16-p. 359, line 8; G.R.A. Transcript at p. 11, line 16- p. 12, line 8), and then Commissioner Morris inquired about “the general lot layout for the cadastral patterns that are seen as unique to these communities.” (R. p. 359, lines 16-21; G.R.A. Transcript p. at 12, lines 16-21). Commissioner Morris remarked, “I don’t see really any continuity or pattern in this – in the Ten Mile Community that’s like, continual, if that makes sense. What’s the explanation for that? Or what’s the Staff’s opinion on the existing cadastral patterns?” (R. p. 360, lines 2-5; G.R.A. Transcript at p. 13, lines 2-5). Commissioner Morris made this observation based upon “the [slide] presentation.” (R. p. 359, lines 24-25; G.R.A. Transcript at p. 12, lines 24-25). Planning Director Joel Evans answered, “Well, I think in Ten Mile, you’ll see a lot of differences in lot sizes. Some are very large, and some lots are quite small because they were developed under the R-4 Zoning District with the minimum lot size.”³ (R. p. 360, lines 8-12; G.R.A. Transcript at p. 13, lines 8-12).

The other issue broached by Commissioner Morris related to the style of house proposed, and he noted that the letters from the public stated that “essentially wider and less steep [houses]

³ Although the transcript identifies Commissioner Kent as making these comments, the context and the meeting minutes show that the speaker was actually Planning Director Joel Evans. (R. p. 478; G.R.A. at 4).

seems to be more historic, although it seems that's more 60's [sic] Ranch Style homes." (R. p. 361, lines 18-23; G.R.A. Transcript at p. 14, lines 18-23). Commissioner Morris asked if a study had been done about the historical house layout but then stated that "[o]bviously, this is a subdivision, so there's no, like, conversation really on houses...." (R. p. 361, line 23-p. 362, line 2; G.R.A. Transcript p. at 14, line 23-p. 15, line 2). Mr. Evans noted that the Ten Mile community is working on an overlay to lessen density. (R. p. 361, lines 4-9; GRA Transcript at p. 14, lines 4-9).

Commissioner Jones commented that "we have to face the fact that this application was made under different circumstances, different zoning, which applies. And we may argue about the merits of what is required or what the Historic Preservation is asking or why it is opposing, but legally, it seems to me and I think it's of the opinion of the legal counsel that the Applicant has standing here to go forward under the proposal that he's made, and that there's nothing much we can do about it." (R. p. 363, lines 3-13; G.R.A. Transcript at p., 16, lines 3-13). At that point, Commissioner Jones moved to approve the subdivision application and the Planning Commission voted 7-1 to approve. (R. p. 363, line 17-p. 364, line 20; G.R.A. Transcript at p. 16, line 17- p. 17, line 20). The lone "no" vote was cast by Commissioner Susan Cox, who said that she "recognize[d] the legal issues here, but I'm going to agree with the ... Historic Preservation Commission, and vote no." (R. p. 364, lines 15-18; G.R.A. Transcript at p. 17, lines 15-18).

III. Planning Commission Review of the Theodore Road Subdivision Proposal.

The Theodore Road Subdivision proposal review was very similar to the Gadsdenville Road Subdivision review. The Planning Staff again presented a slide show which mirrored the information presented for the earlier Subdivision review. Ms. Avery again presented a slide show which featured the Theodore Road property's location on a current zoning map (R. p. 410; T.R.A. at 10), a current future land use map (R. p. 411; T.R.A. at 11), a current aerial map (R. p. 412; T.R.A. at 12), and a current FEMA Flood Zone map. (R. p. 413; T.R.A. at 13). There were likewise

two current site photos (R. p. 414; T.R.A. at 14), a current photo of Theodore Road, a current photo of adjacent property (R. p. 415; T.R.A. at 15), and the plat (R. p. 416; T.R.A. at 16).

The staff also presented slides outlining the same R-4 zoning requirements (R. p. 417; T.R.A. at 17), the same statute excerpt (R. p. 418; T.R.A. at 18), and the same excerpts from Charleston County Historic Preservation Ordinance (R. p. 419; T.R.A. at 19) and Comprehensive Plan (R. p. 420-423; T.R.A. at 20-23). The staff presented the Historic Preservation Commission's findings of inconsistencies of the proposal with the Element goal and strategies CR1., CR3., CR7., and CR9. (R. p. 424-426; T.R.A. at 24-26). Despite these findings, the staff again recommended approving the subdivision because it stated the proposal complies with the ZLDR requirements. (R. p. 427; T.R.A. at 27).

The only other information staff provided was on how the matter was noticed (R. p. 428; T.R.A. at 28) and public input provided to the Historic Preservation Commission (R. p. 429; T.R.A. at 29) which has been recounted above. As for the Planning Commission, it received one letter in opposition, providing the prior documentation submitted to the Historic Preservation Commission, and another petition with 67 signatures in opposition. (R. p. 429; T.R.A. at 29). Two people spoke in opposition to the proposal during the Planning Commission meeting (R. p. 338, line 24-p. 339, line 16; T.R.A. Transcript at p. 4, line 24-p. 5, line 16). Ms. Ascue stated that "the lot sizes are not consistent with the pattern of the 10-mile [sic] historical communities. These homes would be too close together to fit the prevailing pattern." (R. p. 338, line 24-p. 339, line 6; T.R.A. Transcript at p. 4, line 24-p. 5, line 6). Ms. Richardson said the proposal was inconsistent with the historic settlement community character because "the setbacks and the way they're going to be positioned on the property does not fit our character." (R. p. 339, lines 9-16; T.R.A. Transcript at p. 5, lines

9-16). Again, only the applicant spoke in favor of the proposal. (R. p. 338, lines 15-19; T.R.A. Transcript at p. 4, lines 15-19).

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