RECEIVED

Dec 03 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable George M. McFaddin, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2025-001048

Ten Mile Neighborhood Association of Awendaw, S.C.,Appellant,

v.

Charleston County Planning Commission, McNeil Henry,
Dream Finders Homes, LLC, and Cresnet Homes CHS, LLC, Respondents,

AND

Ten Mile Neighborhood Association of Awendaw, S.C.,Appellant,

v.

Charleston County Planning Commission, Betty Ann Goodwater,
Isaac Goodwater, Joseph Goodwater, and Cresnet Homes CHS, LLC, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

[Signature Block to Follow]

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

ARGUMENT

I. BECAUSE THE PLANNING COMMISSION CONSIDERED CONSISTENCY WITH THE COMPREHENSIVE PLAN AND ZLDR, THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY AFFIRMED THE APPROVAL OF DEVELOPER'S MINOR SUBDIVISION APPLICATIONS.

Appellant first argues that the decision to approve the Applications should be reversed because “the Planning Commission failed to consider consistency of the subdivision proposals with the Comprehensive Plan.” (App. Br., at p. 13) Appellant relatedly argues that the Planning Commission “disregarded the Ten Mile community’s evidence that highlighted inconsistency with the Cultural Resources [E]lement [of the Comprehensive Plan] and failed to engage with the Historic Preservation Commission report.” (App. Br., at p. 15) Appellant’s argument that the Planning Commission failed to consider the Comprehensive Plan is inaccurate, and therefore, the decision of the Circuit Court upholding the Planning Commission’s decisions should be affirmed.

By presentation of staff, the Planning Commission was presented with significant evidence during its consideration of the Applications, including the HPC’s reports regarding inconsistency with the Cultural Resources Element of the Comprehensive Plan, copies of the Cultural Resources Element statement and strategies of the Comprehensive Plan, evidence of compliance with the requirements of the ZLDR, and aerial views of the Properties, surrounding lots and adjacent streets. (*See* R. pp. 409–74; *see also* R. 484–547) The Planning Commission was also provided public comments raising concerns over the size of the proposed lots, and thus, alleged inconsistency with the Comprehensive Plan. (*See* R. pp. 430–53; *see also*, R. pp. 505–26)

While considering the evidence referenced above, discussion was held between the Planning Commission and the Zoning and Planning Director (Joel Evans) regarding the cadastral patterns of the Ten Mile Community. Directly considering the reports of the HPC and public

comments from the Ten Mile Community criticizing the proposed lot sizes and alleging inconsistency with the Cultural Resources Element of the Comprehensive Plan, Commissioner Morris and Director Evans had the following exchange on the record:

*“Commissioner Luke Morris: . . . So, I had two, I guess, general questions and these were comments that came from both Historic Preservation’s comments, as well as comments received from the public. The first was the general lot layout for the cadastral patterns that are seen as unique to these communities. I wasn’t too sure, was there – what’s the study done or explanation for the current cadastral patterns or existing cadastral patterns for the plots? So like generally speaking, my assumption for these settlement communities was that plats are generally more linier and actually, if you look at the presentation, I guess that we’ll have at the end of the meeting, that seems to back that up. **But I don’t see really any continuity or pattern in this – in the Ten Mile Community that’s like continual, if that make sense. What’s the explanation for that? Or what’s the Staff’s opinion on the existing cadastral patterns?**”*

Director Joel Evans²: Well, I think in Ten Mile, you’ll see a lot of differences in lot sizes. Some lots are very large, and some lots are quite small because they were developed under the R-4 Zoning District with the minimum lot size. . . .”

(R pp. 359–60, lines 11–22) (*emphasis added*)

As evidenced by this discussion, contrary to Appellant’s argument, the Planning Commission did consider the HPC’s reports and community input alleging the proposed lots were too small and inconsistent with the Comprehensive Plan. The Planning Commission was presented and considered the goals and strategies of the Cultural Resources Element of the Comprehensive Plan during staff presentations. (*See* R. pp. 420–23; *see also*, R. pp. 495–98). But more than that, discussion was held on the record concerning issues raised by the community and HPC’s reports regarding the proposed lot sizes and consistency with the Comprehensive Plan. (R pp. 359–60, lines 11–22)

Thus, the record plainly demonstrates that the Planning Commission was presented with, considered, and discussed whether the lots proposed under Developer’s Applications were

² As Appellant acknowledges, a typographical error exists in the Planning Commission transcript, incorrectly attributing comments of Director Evans to Commissioner David Kent. (App. Br., at n. 3)

consistent with patterns within the Ten Mile Community, and in turn, the Comprehensive Plan. Nevertheless, the Planning Commission's interpretation of the evidence was different from that of the community and the HPC.³ In essence, then, Appellant's argument turns to one of disagreement with the reasoning and wisdom of the Planning Commission. But as discussed more fully *infra* § II, where the Planning Commission's decision is supported by "any evidence," as it is here, the decision must be affirmed. *Town of Hollywood v. Floyd*, 403 S.C. 466, 744 S.E.2d 161 (2013) ("By statute, the trial court must uphold a decision by the Planning Commission unless there is no evidence to support it.")

Relatedly, Appellant argues that the Planning Commission's decision to approve the Applications should be reversed because it relied upon the fact that the proposed lots met the applicable zoning and was recommended for approval by staff. (App. Br., at p. 14 ("the Planning Commission relied on the staff recommendation that because the application complied with R-4 zoning requirements, it should be approved.))⁴ Appellant further stresses a distinction between the ZLDR and Comprehensive Plan, arguing that the Planning Commission essentially ignored the Comprehensive Plan, electing instead to approve the Applications based on compliance with the ZLDR alone.

As an initial matter, this argument ignores the above-cited discussion held on the record between Commissioner Morris and Director Evans regarding lot sizes, the overall lack of

³ Notably, the HPC's reports to Planning Commission are made in an advisory capacity only. The Planning Commission is not beholden to the conclusions made by the HPC regarding Comprehensive Plan consistency. *See* HPO at § E.

⁴ Appellant's cited support for this argument is misguided. Appellant cites to a portion of the Planning Commission transcript in which Commissioner Warwick Jones notes that the zoning controlling the Applications was different from what currently existed (S-3 currently, R-4 previously). This discussion was made in response to some public input regarding the community's dislike of the previously applicable R-4 zoning, particularly the setbacks. (*See e.g.*, R. pp. 505–26) As explained by the Commissioner, because the Applications were made "under different circumstances, different zoning," R-4 zoning applied. Commissioner Jones provided an explanation why R-4 zoning applied; it was not, as Appellant suggests, a concession that the Planning Commission was required to approve the Applications so long they met applicable zoning. To the contrary, Commissioner Jones left open that the Planning Commission could "argue about the merits of what is required or what the [HPC] is asking." (R. pp. 362–63, lines. 25–13)

cadastral pattern in the Ten Mile Community, and the Planning Commission's obvious disagreement with the HPC reports. Appellant's argument that the Comprehensive Plan was not considered, therefore, is without merit.

But even assuming *arguendo* that the Planning Commission did not consider the Comprehensive Plan—which is expressly denied—Appellant also misunderstands the relationship between the ZLDR and the Comprehensive Plan. As Appellant correctly recognizes, the Planning Commission assess compliance with the ZLDR as part of its review. *See* ZLDR § 8.3.2. (App. Br., at p. 14). Therefore, the Planning Commission's consideration of the ZLDR was not only proper, but a necessary component of its review. But more importantly, the ZLDR is an extension of the Comprehensive Plan.

The ZLDR—which is reviewed by the Planning Commission prior to adoption by County Council—is the legal embodiment of the goals and strategies established under the Comprehensive Plan. *See* ZLDR § 1.5(A) (The ZLDR is reviewed by the Planning Commission and adopted by Charleston County Council in order to “implement[] the goals, objectives and policies of the Comprehensive Plan.”) For example, as further evidence of this interconnection, each of Charleston County's base zoning districts established under the ZLDR begin with an explanation of how that zoning district seeks to implement certain policies under the Comprehensive Plan. *See, e.g.*, ZLDR § 4.10.1 (“The R-4, Single Family Residential district implements the Suburban Residential/Residential Low Density (Urban/Suburban Area) policies of the Comprehensive Plan.”) Therefore, compliance with the ZLDR takes into consideration the broader Comprehensive Plan. So even if, as Appellant argues, the Planning Commission's decision was based only upon compliance with the ZLDR, this would not be fatal to its approval of the Applications.

Therefore, the Circuit Court correctly affirmed the decisions of the Planning Commission because it did consider the Comprehensive Plan in approving the Applications. As explained *infra* § II, Appellant’s argument is reduced to a disagreement with the wisdom of the Planning Commission’s decisions, which, when supported by “any evidence,” cannot be disturbed on appeal.

II. BECAUSE THE APPLICATION APPROVALS WERE SUPPORTED BY EVIDENCE, THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY DECLINED TO SUBSTITUTE ITS JUDGMENT FOR THAT OF THE PLANNING COMMISSION.

Appellant alternatively challenges the Planning Commission’s decisions by arguing that “the Circuit Court erred when it concluded the record contains evidence that the subdivision proposals are consistent with the Comprehensive Plan’s Cultural Resources Element’s goal and strategies.” (App. Br., at p. 16) Appellant argues “the subdivision proposals create negative impacts from growth and development on the community, instead of protecting and preserving Ten Mile’s historic character and settlement patterns.” (App. Br., at p. 20) In effect, Appellant invites this Court to substitute its better judgement for that of the Planning Commission. The Circuit Court correctly declined Appellant’s invitation, and this Court should do the same. (R. p. 6)

Findings by the Planning Commission must be treated “in the same manner as findings of fact by a jury.” S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-840(A) “It is a well settled proposition of zoning law that a court will not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the board,” even where the court “may thoroughly disagree with the reasoning by which the board reached its decision” or where it “may feel that the decision of the board was a substandard piece of logic and thinking.” *Furr v. Horry Cty. Zoning Bd. of Appeals*, 411 S.C. 178, 183, 767 S.E.2d 221, 224 (Ct. App. 2014) (citing *Rest. Row Assocs. v. Horry Cty*, 335 S.C. 209, 216, 516 S.E.2d 442, 446 (1999)); *see also*, *Clear Channel Outdoor v. City of Myrtle Beach*, 372 S.C. 230, 234, 642 S.E.2d 565, 567,

(2007) (citing *Rest. Row Assocs. v. Horry Cty*, 335 S.C. 209, 216, 516 S.E.2d 442, 446 (1999)) (stating the court on appeal “will refrain from substituting its judgment for that of the reviewing body, even if it disagrees with the decision.”)

Here, the Planning Commission was presented evidence both in support of, and in opposition to, the Applications. The Planning Commission was presented with public input against the subdivisions, arguing that the proposed lot sizes were too small in relation to the development patterns within Ten Mile, and therefore, inconsistent with the Comprehensive Plan. (See R. pp. 430–53; *see also*, R. pp. 505–26) The Planning Commission was also presented with the HPC’s reports, arguing the subdivisions were inconsistent with the Cultural Resources Element of the Comprehensive Plan due to the sizes of the proposed lots. (See R. pp. 424–26; *see also*, R. pp. 499–501) But the Planning Commission was also presented with aerial photographs of the Properties and surrounding lots showing a lack of cadastral consistency or pattern in the Ten Mile community. (See R. pp. 410–15; *see also*, R. pp. 485–90) As cited above, Commissioner Morris and Director Evans discussed the concerns of the HPC and community, noting the lack of cadastral continuity within the Ten Mile community with some lots being “very large” and others being “quite small.” (R pp. 359–60, lines 11–22) Ultimately, faced with alternatives, each supported by some evidence, the Planning Commission voted 7-1 to approve the Applications. Appellant’s disagreement with those decisions, valid as it may be in its members’ minds, does not mean that they lack any supporting evidence in the record.

Further, Appellant criticizes the evidence presented to the Planning Commission, arguing that the aerial photographs “show predominantly S-3 zoning,” and “to the extent that other development patterns were depicted, they were neither predominant nor actual historic settlement patterns.” (App. Br., at p. 18) As an initial matter, evidence exists in the record beyond the aerial

photographs to show the lack of historical cadastral continuity within Ten Mile—namely, the discussion with Director Evans regarding the lack of cadastral consistency. (R pp. 359–60, lines 11–22) But even so, Appellant’s critiques go to the quality of the evidence and the weight given to that evidence by the Planning Commission. These are not valid bases upon which to reverse. The Planning Commission obviously disagreed with Appellant’s characterization of the evidence; it found the aerial photographs and discussion with Director Evans persuasive. Appellant’s challenge to the quality of the evidence ignores the standard of review. The question is not whether the evidence was persuasive enough in the Appellant’s mind; rather, the question is whether *any* evidence exists in the record to support the Planning Commission’s decisions. *See e.g., Kurschner*, at 174, 656 S.E.2d at 351.

Therefore, the Circuit Court correctly affirmed the decisions of the Planning Commission, finding that its decisions were supported by evidence and declining to entertain Appellant’s challenge to the wisdom of those decisions.

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, for the foregoing reasons, Respondent requests that the Order of the Circuit Court and the Planning Commission’s approval of the Applications be affirmed.